A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The jury was instructed on a statutory means of committing 

the crime of cyberstalking that was not supported by substantial 

evidence. 

2. The "ongoing pattern of psychological, physical or sexual 

abuse" aggravating factor is unconstitutionally vague in violation of 

constitutional due process to the extent it references "psychological 

abuse." 

3. Mr. Bell received ineffective assistance of counsel when his 

attorney failed to argue the harassment and second degree assault 

convictions constituted the same criminal conduct for purposes of 

sentencing. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict requires 

the jury be instructed only on those alternative means of committing the 

crime that are supported by substantial evidence. Was Mr. Bell's 

constitutional right to jury unanimity violated where the jury was 

instructed on an alternative means of committing the crime of 

cyberstalking that was not supported by substantial evidence? 
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2. The Due Process Clause requires that penal statutes provide 

citizens with fair notice of what conduct is proscribed and provide 

ascertainable standards of guilt so as to protect against arbitrary and 

subjective enforcement. The sentencing statute authorizes the court to 

impose greater punishment based on a jury finding that the current 

offense was part of an "ongoing pattern of psychological abuse." Is the 

statutory term unconstitutionally vague in violation of due process? 

3. Counsel's failure to argue at sentencing that two offenses 

constitute the same criminal conduct amounts to ineffective assistance 

of counsel if there is a reasonable possibility that the sentencing court 

would have found the offenses were the same criminal conduct had 

counsel so argued. Did Mr. Bell receive ineffective assistance of 

counsel when his attorney failed to argue that his assault and 

harassment convictions constituted the same criminal conduct, where 

the two offenses occurred at the same time and place against the same 

victim, and the court could have found the offenses involved the same 

objective criminal intent? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Warren and Kimyata Bell have been married since 200 1. RP 

696. They have two boys, Kalijah, who was 10 years old at the time of 
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trial, and Kamicah, who was six. RP 382. Although the marriage was 

happy at first, it deteriorated over time and the couple separated in 

around 2008 or 2009. RP 396, 696-97. Both Ms. and Mr. Bell began 

to see other people. RP 397-98. They continued to have contact with 

each other for the sake of the boys. RP 397-98. 

On August 6, 2012, Ms. Bell was living in an apartment in Kent 

with her two sons and her friend James Denslow. RP 402. That day, 

Ms. Bell and the boys spent time at home with her boyfriend "Gabe," 

barbecuing and eating dinner in the backyard. RP 403. Toward 

evening, soon after Gabe left, Mr. Bell came to the apartment and 

knocked on the front door. RP 404. According to Ms. Bell, when she 

answered the door, Mr. Bell immediately grabbed her by the hair and 

put his hands around her neck. RP 405. She said he smelled of alcohol 

and made comments indicating he was angry about her and the boys 

spending time with Gabe. RP 405-06. 

Ms. Bell said Mr. Bell pulled her down the stairs by her hair into 

the living room below. RP 407-10. She fell to the floor, where he 

kicked her head and stomped on her rib cage. RP 411. He then 

grabbed her neck with both hands so that she could hardly breathe. RP 

411. She blacked out briefly. RP 415. When she woke up, Mr. Bell 
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had his hands around her neck and said he was going to kill her. RP 

416-18,459. 

The two boys were present during the altercation. RP 482, 628-

29. The older boy, Kalijah, used Ms. Bell's cell phone to call 911. RP 

483-87. 

Mr. Denslow arrived home and heard Ms. Bell screaming 

downstairs. RP 321. He said he went down the stairs and saw Mr. Bell 

with his hands around Ms. Bell's neck. RP 324-25. When Mr. Bell 

saw Mr. Denslow, he chased him back out the front door and into the 

front yard. RP 325-26. A neighbor who was outside yelled to Mr. Bell 

and Mr. Denslow that the police were on their way. RP 144. Mr. Bell 

jumped in his van and drove off. RP 144-45. The police arrived soon 

afterward. RP 532-33. 

Ms. Bell was taken to the hospital by ambulance. RP 181. She 

complained of pain in her chest, back and neck. RP 180-83. She had 

abrasions on her neck but no significant injury. RP 183-84,204-07. A 

chest x-ray was normal. RP 189. She was discharged from the hospital 

later that night. RP 200. 

That night, Mr. Bell sent Ms. Bell a text message that said: 
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Bitch I hope u show them this bitch u want to control me 
ill kill u and them whenever they dont know shit tell 
them to go home or else its on. 

RP 736; Exhibit 12. 

Mr. Bell was charged with one count of second degree assault, 

RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a) and (g). The information alleged that he 

assaulted Ms. Bell by strangulation and, in the alternative, that he 

intentionally assaulted her and thereby recklessly inflicted substantial 

bodily harm. CP 25-26. The State also alleged two aggravating 

factors: (1) that the offense involved domestic violence and was 

committed "within sight or sound of the victim's or the offender's 

minor child under the age of eighteen years, under the authority of 

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(ii)"; and (2) that the offense involved domestic 

violence and "was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical 

or sexual abuse of the same victim or multiple victims manifested by 

multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time, under the authority 

ofRCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i)." CP 25-26. 

The State also charged Mr. Bell with one count of felony 

harassment, RCW 9A.46.020(1), (2)(b). CP 26-27. The State alleged 

the same two aggravating factors as for the second degree assault 

charge. CP 26-27. 
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Finally, the State charged Mr. Bell with one count of 

cyberstalking, RCW 9.61.260(1), (3), based on the text message he sent 

to Ms. Bell on the night of the incident. CP 27. The State alleged only 

the "pattern of abuse" aggravating factor for the cyberstalking charge. 

CP 27. 

Following a trial on the substantive offenses, the jury found Mr. 

Bell guilty of each count as charged. CP 105-07. 

A separate proceeding was held to determine the two alleged 

aggravating factors. Prior to the proceeding, Mr. Bell moved to dismiss 

the "ongoing pattern of abuse" aggravator, arguing the term 

"psychological abuse" was unconstitutionally vague. CP 11-20; RP 

874-76,899. The court denied the motion. RP 874-76. 

In order to prove the "pattern of abuse" aggravator, the State 

was permitted to introduce judgments from five prior felony 

convictions for violation of a no-contact order and three prior 

misdemeanor domestic violence offense convictions. RP 652; Exhibits 

34-38; Post-Verdict exhibits 1-3. 

The jury answered "yes" on the special verdict forms, finding 

the State had proved the aggravating factors as charged. CP 108-16. 
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The court found the aggravating factors justified an exceptional 

sentence above the standard range. RP 940-42; CP 160. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. MR. BELL'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO 
A UNANIMOUS JURY VERDICT WAS 
VIOLATED WHEN THE JURY WAS 
INSTRUCTED ON A STATUTORY 
ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF COMMITTING 
CYBERST ALKING THAT WAS NOT 
SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE 

Criminal defendants in Washington have a fundamental 

constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict. Const. art. I, § § 21, 

22; State v. Stephens, 93 Wn.2d 186,190,607 P.2d 304 (1980). When 

the crime charged can be committed by more than one means, jury 

unanimity is not required as to the means by which the crime was 

committed only if substantial evidence supports each of the relied-upon 

alternatives. State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403,410-11, 756 P.2d 105 

(1988). Thus, the jury should be instructed on only those means for 

which there is substantial evidence. State v. Franco, 96 Wn.2d 816, 

824,639 P.2d 1320 (1982) (citing State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216,616 

P.2d 628 (1980)). 

Two purposes of the alternative means doctrine are to prevent 

jury confusion about what criminal conduct must be proved beyond a 
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reasonable doubt, and to prevent the State from charging every 

available means authorized under a single criminal statute, lumping 

them together, and then leaving it to the jury to pick freely among the 

various means in order to obtain a unanimous verdict. State v. Smith, 

159 Wn.2d 778, 789,154 P.3d 873 (2007). 

An "alternative means case" is one where the State alleges and 

the jury is instructed on more than one means of committing the crime. 

Id. at 790. The question on review is whether substantial evidence 

supports each of the means presented to the jury. State v. Randhawa, 

133 Wn.2d 67, 74, 941 P.2d 661 (1997). The substantial evidence test 

is satisfied only if the reviewing court is convinced that a rational trier 

of fact could have found each means proved beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 410-11. 

If the evidence is insufficient to support each means, either the 

prosecutor must elect the means supported by the evidence, or the court 

must instruct the jury to rely on only that means during deliberations. 

State v. Gonzales, 133 Wn. App. 236,243, 148 P.3d 1046 (2006). 

Here, two alternative means of committing the crime of 

cyberstalking were charged and submitted to the jury. The information 

alleged that Mr. Bell, with intent to harass, intimidate, or torment 
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Kimyata Bell, sent her an electronic communication (1) "using lewd, 

lascivious, indecent, or obscene words, images, or language, or 

suggesting the commission of a lewd or lascivious act," or (2) 

"threatening to inflict injury on the person or property of Kimyata Bell, 

or any member of her family or household."( CP 27. The jury was 

instructed on both of these means. CP 86, 89. The prosecutor did not 

elect either of the means in closing argument. See RP 839-40. 

Yet, the evidence was not sufficient to support the "lewd or 

lascivious" alternative means of committing the crime. The only 

evidence to support the cyberstalking charge was the text message Mr. 

Bell sent to Ms. Bell on the night of the incident. The message read: 

Bitch I hope u show them this bitch u want to control me 
ill kill u and them whenever they dont know shit tell 
them to go home or else its on. 

( The cyberstalking statute, RCW 9.61.260, sets forth three 
alternative means: 

(1) A person is guilty ofcyberstalking ifhe or she, 
with intent to harass, intimidate, torment, or embarrass any 
other person, and under circumstances not constituting 
telephone harassment, makes an electronic communication 
to such other person or a third party: 

(a) Using any lewd, lascivious, indecent, or obscene 
words, images, or language, or suggesting the commission 
of any lewd or lascivious act; 

(b) Anonymously or repeatedly whether or not 
conversation occurs; or 

(c) Threatening to inflict injury on the person or 
property of the person called or any member of his or her 
family or household .... 
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RP 736; Exhibit 12. The message contains no "lewd, lascivious, 

indecent, or obscene words, images or language," and does not suggest 

the commission of a "lewd or lascivious act." See RCW 

9.61.260(1)(a). No rational trier of fact could have found the text 

message satisfied this means of committing the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 410-11. Therefore, the 

conviction for cyberstalking must be reversed. Id. 

2. THE STATUTORY TERM 
"PSYCHOLOGICAL ABUSE," CONTAINED 
IN THE "ONGOING PATTERN OF ABUSE" 
AGGRA V AT OR, IS VAGUE IN VIOLATION 
OF CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS 

a. The "void for vagueness" doctrine of the 
Due Process Clause applies to statutory 
aggravating factors 

The vagueness doctrine of the Due Process Clause2 rests on two 

related principles. First, penal statutes must provide citizens with fair 

notice of what conduct is proscribed. Second, laws must provide 

ascertainable standards of guilt so as to protect against arbitrary and 

subjective enforcement. Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 

2 The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment provides, 
"nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, 
without due process of law." In addition, article I, section 3 of the 
Washington Constitution provides, "No person shall be deprived of life, 
liberty, or property, without due process of law." 
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108, 92 S. Ct. 2294, 33 L. Ed. 2d 222 (1972). "A vague law 

impermissibly delegates basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and 

juries for resolution on an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the 

attendant dangers of arbitrary and discriminatory application." Id. at 

108-09. A statute fails to adequately guard against arbitrary 

enforcement if it lacks ascertainable or legally fixed standards of 

application or invites "unfettered latitude" in its application. Smith v. 

Goguen, 415 U.S. 574, 578, 94 S. Ct. 1242, 15 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1973). 

The vagueness doctrine is most concerned with ensuring the existence 

of minimal guidelines to govern enforcement. Kolender v. Lawson, 

461 U.S. 352, 358,103 S. Ct. 1855,75 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1983); O'Day v. 

King County, 109 Wn.2d 796,811-12, 749 P.2d 142 (1988). 

In State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003), the 

Washington Supreme Court overturned its prior decision in State v. 

Rhodes, 92 Wn.2d 755,600 P.2d 1264 (1979), and concluded that 

statutory aggravating factors were not subject to a vagueness challenge. 

The court' s holding in Baldwin is untenable in light of the United 

States Supreme Court's later decision in Blakely v. Washington, 542 

u.s. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).3,4 

3 In Blakely, the Supreme Court held "'any fact that increases the 
penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be 
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In Baldwin, the court held "the void for vagueness doctrine should 

have application only to laws that 'proscribe or prescribe conduct' and that 

it was 'analytically unsound' to apply the doctrine to laws that merely 

provide directives that judges should consider when imposing sentences.'" 

150 Wn.2d at 458 (quoting State v. Jacobson, 92 Wn. App. 958,966,967, 

965 P.2d 1140 (1998)) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

Baldwin concluded that because the sentencing guidelines statutes "do not 

define conduct ... nor do they vary the statutory maximum and minimum 

penalties assigned to illegal conduct by the legislature," the void-for-

vagueness doctrine "ha[ s] no application in the context of sentencing 

guidelines." Id. at 459. 

Baldwin's conclusion that aggravating factors "do not ... vary the 

statutory maximum and minimum penalties assigned to illegal conduct by 

the legislature" is indisputably incorrect following Blakely. There, the 

Court held statutory aggravating factors do alter the statutory maximum of 

submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.'" Blakely, 
542 U.S. at 301 (quoting Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 
S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000)). 

4 In State v. Duncalf, 177 Wn.2d 289, 300 P.3d 352 (2013), the 
petitioner similarly argued that Baldwin did not survive Blakely. The 
Washington Supreme Court did not decide the issue and instead assumed 
without deciding that the vagueness doctrine applied to the petitioner's 
challenge to the aggravating factor. Id. at 296-97. The court concluded 
that even if the vagueness doctrine applied, the aggravating factor at issue 
was not impermissibly vague. Id. 
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the offense. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 306-07. Moreover, aggravating factors 

no longer "merely provide directives that judges should consider when 

imposing sentences." Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 458. The vast majority of 

aggravating factors may no longer be considered by a sentencing judge at 

all, unless they are first found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. RCW 

9.94A.537. Thus, unlike the pre-Blakely scheme, aggravating factors are 

not matters that merely direct judicial discretion. 

Baldwin also concluded there was no liberty interest at stake in the 

determination of an aggravating factor, stating "before a state law can 

create a liberty interest, it must contain 'substantive predicates' to the 

exercise of discretion and 'specific directives to the decisionmaker that if 

the regulations' substantive predicates are present, a particular outcome 

must follow.'" Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 460 (quoting In re Pers. Restraint 

of Cas haw, 123 Wn.2d 138,144,866 P.2d 8 (1994)). This conclusion is 

also contrary to the United States Supreme Court's opinions in Blakely 

and Apprendi. Those cases concluded the Due Process Clause does apply 

to aggravating factors. 

Blakely concluded that the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial 

applies to statutory aggravating factors. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 305. It is by 

virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause that the Sixth 

Amendment jury trial right is incorporated against the states. Duncan v. 
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Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 156,88 S. Ct. 1444,20 L. Ed. 2d 491 (1968). 

In concluding that the Sixth Amendment jury trial right applies in state 

criminal trials, the Court first determined that the right is "among those 

fundamental principles of liberty and justice which lie at the base of all 

our civil and political institutions, ... is basic in our system of 

jurisprudence, and ... is a fundamental right, essential to a fair trial." 

Id. at 148-49 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). The 

Court reasoned that "the jury trial provisions in the Federal and State 

Constitutions reflect a fundamental decision about the exercise of 

official power-a reluctance to entrust plenary powers over the life and 

liberty ofthe citizen to one judge or to a group of judges." Id. at 156. 

Thus, the Sixth Amendment right to a jury applies to state court 

proceedings as a component of the Due Process Clause because of the 

liberty interest at stake. Because it applies equally to aggravating 

factors, the same liberty interests must necessarily be at stake. 

In Apprendi, the Court stated: 

As we made clear in [In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. 
Ct. 1068,25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)], the "reasonable 
doubt" requirement "has [ a] vital role in our criminal 
procedure for cogent reasons." 397 U.S. at 363, 90 S. Ct. 
1068. Prosecution subjects the criminal defendant both 
to "the possibility that he may lose his liberty upon 
conviction and ... the certainty that he would be 
stigmatized by the conviction." Id. We thus require this, 
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among other, procedural protections in order to 
"provid[ e] concrete substance for the presumption of 
innocence," and to reduce the risk of imposing such 
deprivations erroneously. Id. 

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 484. Thus, Apprendi, which the Court 

specifically extended to Washington's exceptional sentence statute in 

Blakely, applied the Due Process Clause's protections to sentence 

enhancements because of the loss of liberty associated with the finding. 

Apprendi also noted "we have made clear beyond peradventure that 

Winship's due process and associated jury protections extend, to some 

degree, to determinations that [go] not to a defendant's guilt or 

innocence, but simply to the length of his sentence." Id. (brackets in 

original, internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, liberty 

interests arise from factual determinations that establish the length of 

the sentence. 

Apprendi and Blakely clearly establish that aggravating factors 

affect a liberty interest protected by the Due Process Clause. Indeed, as 

Apprendi expressly noted, sentencing enhancements impact the most 

basic of liberty interests-the right to be free from confinement. 530 

U.S. at 484. It is because they affect the most basic liberty interest that 

enhancements and aggravating factors, just like traditional elements, 

must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. With the recognition that 
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this most basic liberty interest is implicated any time a statute permits 

an increase in the prescribed range of punishment based upon a jury 

finding, the second of Baldwin's underpinnings is lost. 

Baldwin's reasoning is analytically unsound. Under Baldwin, a 

defendant may only raise a vagueness challenge to elements that 

require a particular result. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 460. By that logic, 

no such challenge could ever be raised to the elements of an offense in 

jurisdictions that do not employ determinate sentencing, such as the 

federal court, where a conviction does not mandate a particular 

sentence. The same could be said of the element of any felony offense 

in Washington which does not trigger a mandatory minimum, as a court 

is always free to exercise its discretion to impose any sentence within 

the standard range. Certainly the vast majority of misdemeanors would 

be immune from vagueness challenges because a jury finding as to any 

element does not require the court to impose a particular sentence, and, 

for that matter, does not require the court to impose any sentence at all. 

Nor would Baldwin's reasoning permit vagueness challenges to 

conditions of community custody, as a violation of such conditions 

does not dictate an outcome. Yet, not only do Washington courts 

permit such challenges, they have struck several conditions as 
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unconstitutionally vague. See, e.g., State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 

P.3d 678 (2008). 

Finally, the reasoning of Cashaw, relied on in Baldwin, is of 

limited value in assessing the applicability of the vagueness doctrine to 

a statutory factor that increases punishment. The parole statutes at 

issue in Cashaw concerned whether a defendant had a right to be freed 

prior to the expiration of his lawfully imposed sentence. Cashaw, 123

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