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

c. ARGUMENT 

1. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS BOTH 
ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF COMMITTING 
CYBERST ALKING 

The defendant contends that his conviction for cyberstalking 

must be reversed because the jury was instructed that it could 

convict him based on two alternatives of committing the crime, yet 

the evidence was insufficient to prove each of the alternative 

means. The defendant is incorrect, substantial evidence supports 

each alternative means. 

Under the alternative means doctrine, where a single offense 

may be committed in more than one way, jury unanimity is required 

only as to guilt. State v. Kitchen , 110 Wn.2d 403, 410, 756 P.2d 

105 (1988). Jury unanimity is not required on each alternative so 

long as substantial evidence supports each method by which the 

single crime could have been committed. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 

410. On review, the question is whether the jury "could have found 
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each means of committing the crime proved beyond a reasonable 

doubt. " Kitchen , at 411. 

Here, the jury instructed on two alternative means of 

committing the crime of cyberstalking. Specifically, along with the 

other elements of the offense not relevant here, the jury had to find 

that with intent to harass, intimidate or torment Kimyata Bell, the 

defendant made an electronic communication to her (1) "using 

lewd, lascivious, indecent, or obscene words, images, or language, 

or suggesting the commission of a lewd or lascivious act," or 

(2) "threatening to inflict injury on the person of Kimyata BelL" 

CP 27,89; RCW 9.61 .260(1)(a) and (c)? The defendant contends 

that there was insufficient evidence to find that the text message 

that he sent to Kimyata used "lewd, lascivious, indecent, or 

obscene words, images, or language, or suggesting the 

commission of a lewd or lascivious act." The defendant is incorrect. 

On the same night he assaulted and strangled Kimyata, the 

defendant sent her the following text message: 

2 The statute contains a third alternative; that with intent to harass, intimidate, 
torment, or embarrass, the person makes an electronic communication to such 
other person "anonymously or repeatedly whether or not conversation occurs." 
RCW 9.61 .260(b). The jury was not provided with this alternative means of 
committing the crime. See CP 89. 
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Bitch I hope u show them this bitch u want to control 
me ill kill u and them whenever they don't know shit 
tell them to go home or else its on. 

RP 736; Exhibit 12. This message provides sufficient evidence to 

support the conviction. The case of State v. Lansdowne3 is directly 

on point. 

Jacqueline Lansdowne called her daughter's school because 

one of the teachers had taken away her daughter's cell phone. 

While speaking to a school secretary, Lansdowne said that if the 

teacher, Toddette McGreevy, so much as touched that phone, she 

would "send someone to beat the shit out of Mrs. McGreevy." She 

said she would "nail her to the cross and set fire to it" and "take 

care of that bitch ." She also said that "Mrs. McGreevy had better 

not touch my child or I will personally see that the bitch pays for it." 

Lansdowne, 111 Wn. App. at 889. 

Lansdowne was charged with telephone harassment under 

one alternative means that required the State to prove that she 

used "indecent or obscene words with the intent to harass." 

3 111 Wn. App. 882,46 P.3d 836 (2002). 

- 10 -
1403-14 Bell COA 



RCW 9.61.230(1 )(a); Lansdowne, at 290.4 Like here, Lansdowne 

alleged that the words she used did not fit the elements of the 

alternative means charged. The Court held otherwise, finding that, 

The second issue is whether the words "shit" and "bitch" 
are indecent or obscene language. "Indecent" is defined 
as: "n·ot decent: '" altogether unbecoming: contrary to 
what the nature of things for which circumstances would 
dictate as right or expected or appropriate: hardly 
suitable: unseemly." Websters, supra, 1147. "Obscene" 
is defined as: "marked by violation of accepted language 
inhibitions and by the use of words regarded as taboo in 
polite usage." Websters, supra, 1557. Ms. Lansdowne 
used the word "bitch" not in reference to a female dog, 
but in reference to a female human being. Such usage 
is both indecent and obscene as those words are 
commonly defined. A rational trier of fact could have 
determined that Ms. Lansdowne's words were indecent 
or obscene. 

Lansdowne, at 891-92. 

The defendant here used the same pertinent words in the 

same manner that the Court held in Lansdowne a reasonable jury 

could find met the elements of the crime of telephone harassment. 

4 As pertinent here, the telephone harassment statute uses almost identical 
language in regards to the indecent or obscene language alternative means. 
The statute provides that: 

(1) Every person who, with intent to harass, intimidate, torment or embarrass 
any other person, shall make a telephone call to such other person: 

(a) Using any lewd, lascivious, profane, indecent, or obscene words or 
language, or suggesting the commission of any lewd or lascivious act; 

RCW 9.61 .230(1 )(a) . The only pertinent differences between the two statutes is 
that the cyberstalking statute removed the term "profane," and added the term 
"images." 
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There is no distinguishing fact here that would lead to a different 

result. Thus, the defendant's claim that there is not sufficient 

evidence to support the challenged alternative means fails. 

2. THE DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO HIS 
EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE IS MOOT AND 
WITHOUT MERIT 

Under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i), a court may impose an 

exceptional sentence upon a jury finding that the current offense 

involved domestic violence and that U[t]he offense was part of an 

ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of a 

victim or multiple victims manifested by multiple incidents over a 

prolonged period of time." The defendant contends this sentencing 

aggravator is unconstitutionally vague. His argument should be 

rejected for three reasons, (1) the issue is moot, (2) a defendant 

may not raise a vagueness challenge to a sentencing aggravator, 

and (3) the statute is not unconstitutionally vague. 

a. The Issue Is Moot 

A claim is moot if the court can provide no effective relief. 

In re Cross, 99 Wn.2d 373, 376-77,662 P.2d 828 (1983). An 

alleged sentencing error is rendered moot when the reviewing court 

can provide no relief and the alleged error would not bind a future 
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court in a sentencing determination. See State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d 

220,228,95 P.3d 1225 (2004) (finding that an appeal was moot 

where it could not "provide [appellant] with any effective relief, i.e., 

less confinement due to a lower offender score"); State v. Vike, 125 

Wn.2d 407, 409 n.2, 885 P.2d 824 (1994) (recognizing that an 

appellant's challenge to the sentencing court's "same criminal 

conduct" finding was not mooted by his release from confinement in 

this case because that determination would bind a future 

sentencing court under then-existing statutes). 

Here, the court imposed an exceptional sentence based on 

two aggravating factors, the jury's finding that "[t]he offense was 

part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual 

abuse of a victim or multiple victims manifested by multiple 

incidents over a prolonged period of time," and, the jury's finding 

that "[t]he offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim's or 

the offender's minor children under the age of eighteen years." 

RCW 9.94A.535(3}(h)(i} and (ii) ; CP 108-15, 160. The court 

indicated that it was the latter, that the abuse occurred within sight 

and sound of Kimyata's young children, that affected her the most. 

RP 941 . The court noted how incredibly harmful it is for children to 

witness such abuse and that it is extremely hard to remedy. 
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RP 941.5 The court also ruled that it "would impose the same 

sentence on the basis of anyone of the aggravating 

circumstances." CP 160. 

An appellate court may uphold an exceptional sentence if it 

finds that any of the reasons given by the sentencing court when 

imposing the sentence are valid. State v. Vaughn, 83 Wn. App. 

669,675,924 P.2d 27 (1996), rev. denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018 (1997). 

Where the trial court states that either of two aggravating factors 

would justify the exceptional sentence and where the reviewing 

court affirms that the exceptional sentence was based on one of the 

factors, the reviewing court need not reach the validity of the other 

factor. State v. Osalde, 109 Wn. App. 94, 97, 34 P.3d 258 (2001). 

With the court here specifically ruling that it would impose 

the exact same sentence on either aggravating factor, the issue as 

to whether the one aggravating factor is vague becomes moot. 

This court can provide no relief. Further, no future court is bound 

by the decision of the trial court in regards to this ruling. 

5 The defendant did not object to the issuance of a no-contact order with his 
children, telling the court that he never wanted to see them again. RP 946. 
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b. A Defendant May Not Raise A Vagueness 
Challenge To A Sentencing Aggravator 

Under the Due Process Clause, a statute is void for 

vagueness if (1) it fails to define the offense with sufficient precision 

that a person of ordinary intelligence can understand it, or (2) it 

does not provide standards sufficiently specific to prevent arbitrary 

enforcement. State v. Eckblad, 152 Wn.2d 515, 518, 98 P.3d 1184 

(2004). Both prongs of the vagueness doctrine focus on laws that 

prohibit or require conduct. State v. Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d 448, 458, 

78 P.3d 1005 (2003). 

The Supreme Court has previously held that aggravating 

circumstances are not subject to vagueness challenges under the 

Due Process Clause because they "do not define conduct nor do 

they allow for arbitrary arrest and criminal prosecution by the 

State." Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 459. "A citizen reading the guideline 

statutes will not be forced to guess at the potential consequences 

that might befall one who engages in prohibited conduct because 

the guidelines do not set penalties." kL. The Court further observed 

that "[t]he guidelines are intended only to structure discretionary 

decisions affecting sentences; they do not specify that a particular 

sentence must be imposed. Since nothing in these guideline 
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statutes requires a certain outcome, the statutes create no 

constitutionally protectable liberty interest." kL. at 461 . 

The defendant argues that, in light of Blakely v. 

Washington,6 and Apprendi v. New Jersey,? the Court's decision in 

Baldwin is incorrect and harmful. However, the defendant fails to 

explain why the fact that a jury, rather than a judge, decides 

whether the facts exist to support an exceptional sentence, 

compels the result that Baldwin is wrong and must be overruled. 

The change in the finder of fact is the only pertinent change that 

resulted from Blakely and Apprendi. 

Prior to Blakely, upon a conviction for a felony offense, a trial 

court could impose an exceptional sentence above the standard 

range based on a judge finding that the "current offense that 

involved domestic violence and which 'was part of an ongoing 

pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of the victim 

manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time' 

was an aggravating circumstance." State v. Zatkovich, 113 

Wn. App. 70, 81, 52 P.3d 36 (2002) (citing former RCW 

9.94A.390(2)(h». In 2005, the legislature amended the Sentencing 

6 542 U.S. 296,124 S. Ct. 2531,159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004). 

7530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000). 
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Reform Act (SRA) to comply with Blakely's requirement that a jury, 

not a judge, must find the facts used to support an exceptional 

sentence. The statutory amendments were designed to codify the 

existing common-law aggravating factors. Laws of 2005, ch. 68, 

§ 1. 

The Court's analysis in Baldwin remains valid after Blakely 

and Apprendi. The aggravating circumstances in RCW 9.94A.535 

do not purport to define criminal conduct. As the Supreme Court 

has stated, "an aggravating factor is not the functional equivalent of 

an essential element." State v. Siers, 174 Wn.2d 269, 271, 274 

P.3d 358 (2012). Instead, the statute lists accompanying 

circumstances that may justify a trial court's imposition of a higher 

sentence. But a jury's finding of an aggravating circumstance does 

not mandate an exceptional sentence. The trial court still has 

discretion in deciding whether the aggravating circumstance is a 

substantial and compelling reason to impose an exceptional 

sentence.8 RCW 9.94A.535. 

Additiona"y, while the defendant asserts that an aggravating 

circumstance changes the maximum penalty that can be imposed 

8 For example, in Siers, the jury found the existence of an aggravating factor but 
the trial court declined to impose an exceptional sentence. Siers, 174 Wn.2d at 
272-73. 
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(a sentence above the standard range), this was true at the time 

the Court decided Baldwin. One thing and one thing only is 

different post-Blakely, Apprendi, and the resulting statutory 

amendments to the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA): the jury now 

must decide beyond a reasonable doubt the facts supporting an 

exceptional sentence--a function that once belonged to the 

sentencing judge. 

The Court in Blakely held that "any fact that increases the 

penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must 

be submitted to a jury." Blakely, 542 U.S. at 301. Thus, 

post-Blakely, the sentencing court could not find facts, not 

otherwise admitted, in imposing an exceptional sentence. As a 

result, the legislature amended the statutory sentence provisions of 

the SRA to provide for the jury to find the facts beyond a 

reasonable doubt that could support imposition of an exceptional 

sentence. The trial court could then impose an exceptional 

sentence "if it finds, considering the purpose of this chapter, that 

there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an 

exceptional sentence." RCW 9.94A.535. Thus, the only 

consequence of Blakely and the resulting statutory amendments 
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was to shift the fact finding function of an exceptional sentence 

proceeding from the sentencing judge to the jury. 

The doctrine of stare decisis provides that a court must 

adhere to a prior ruling unless the defendant can make "a clear 

showing" that the rule is "incorrect and harmful." In re Stranger 

Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649,466 P.2d 508 (1970); see also State v. Kier, 

164 Wn.2d 798,804, 194 P.3d 212 (2008) (the court does "not 

lightly set aside precedent, and the burden is on the party seeking 

to overrule a decision to show that it is both incorrect and 

harmful."). Because the defendant fails to show that the Court's 

decision in Baldwin is incorrect and harmful, this Court must adhere 

to the holding that exceptional sentence aggravating circumstances 

are not subject to a vagueness challenge.9 

c. The Statute Is Not Vague 

Even if the defendant could make a due process vagueness 

challenge to the statute, his argument should be rejected. The 

terms used in defining the aggravating circumstance are ones of 

common understanding. Under the particular facts of this case, the 

9 The defendant contends that a person is thus left with no ability to challenge a 
sentencing aggravator. This is incorrect. If a defendant believes certain words 
of a sentencing aggravator are vague, he can always propose clarified jury 
instructions. See State v. Duncalf, 177 Wn.2d 289,296-98,300 P.3d 352 (2013); 
State v. Whitaker, 133 Wn. App. 199, 233,135 P.3d 923 (2006), rev. denied, 159 
Wn.2d 1017 (2007). 
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defendant was on notice that his criminal conduct was aggravated 

where he spent the last 20 years abusing various women in 

domestic violence relationships.10 

A statute is presumed to be constitutional. State v. Coria, 

120Wn.2d 156, 163,839 P.2d 890 (1992). The party that 

challenges a statute's constitutionality for vagueness bears the 

burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is 

unconstitutionally vague. City of Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 

171,177,795 P.2d 693 (1990). 

A statute meets constitutional requirements U[i]f persons of 

ordinary intelligence can understand what the ordinance 

proscribes." Douglass, 115 Wn.2d at 179. It is not enough to hold 

a statute vague merely because ua person cannot predict with 

complete certainty the exact point at which his actions would be 

classified as prohibited conduct." Haley v. Med. Disciplinary Bd., 

117 Wn.2d 720,740,818 P.2d 1062 (1991) (quoting Seattle v. Eze,

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